
MEETING: Overview and Scrutiny Committee
DATE: Tuesday, 8 January 2019
TIME: 2.00 pm
VENUE: Council Chamber, Barnsley Town Hall

AGENDA

Administrative and Governance Issues for the Committee

1  Apologies for Absence - Parent Governor Representatives  

To receive apologies for absence in accordance with Regulation 7 (6) of the 
Parent Governor Representatives (England) Regulations 2001.

2  Declarations of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interest  

To invite Members of the Committee to make any declarations of pecuniary and 
non-pecuniary interest in connection with the items on this agenda.

3  Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 8)

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting of the Committee held on 27th 
November, 2018 (Item 3 attached).

Overview and Scrutiny Issues for the Committee

4  Neglect Strategy  (Pages 9 - 26)

To consider a report of the Executive Director Core Services and the Executive 
Director People (Item 4a attached) in respect of the Barnsley Safeguarding 
Children Board (BSCB) Neglect Strategy (Item 4b attached).

5  Exclusion of the Public and Press  

The public and press will be excluded from this meeting during consideration of 
the items so marked because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined by the specific paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as amended, subject to the public interest test.

6  Barnsley SEND and Out of Borough Placements  (Pages 27 - 44)

To consider a private report of the Executive Director Core Services and the 
Executive Director People (Item 6 attached) in respect of Children and Young 
People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in Barnsley

Reason restricted: 
Paragraph (2) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

7  Children's Social Care Performance  (Pages 45 - 96)

Children’s Social Care Performance Cover Report (Item 7a), Data Report (Item 
7b) and Explanatory Document (Item 7c)

Public Document Pack



Reason restricted: 
Paragraph (2) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

Enquiries to Anna Marshall, Scrutiny Officer

Email scrutiny@barnsley.gov.uk

mailto:scrutiny@barnsley.gov.uk


To: Chair and Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committee:-

Councillors Ennis OBE (Chair), Bowler, G. Carr, Charlesworth, Clarke, Clements, 
Franklin, Frost, Gollick, Daniel Griffin, Hampson, Hand-Davis, Hayward, 
W. Johnson, Makinson, Mitchell, Murray, Phillips, Pickering, Pourali, Sheard, 
Sixsmith MBE, Tattersall, Williams, Wilson and Wright together with co-opted 
Members Ms P. Gould and Statutory Co-opted Member Ms K. Morritt (Parent 
Governor Representative)

Electronic Copies Circulated for Information
Diana Terris, Chief Executive
Andrew Frosdick, Executive Director Core Services
Rob Winter, Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management
Michael Potter, Service Director, Business Improvement and Communications
Ian Turner, Service Director, Council Governance
Press

Witnesses
Item 4 (2:00pm)
Mel John-Ross, Service Director – Children’s Social Care & Safeguarding, BMBC
Deborah Mercer, Head of Children & Family Social Care, BMBC
Nina Sleight, Head of Early Start, Prevention & Sufficiency, BMBC
Laura Hammerton, Family Centre Development Manager, BMBC
Alicia Marcroft, Head of Public Health, BMBC
Social Workers, BMBC
Angela Fawcett, Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and Looked After 
Children, NHS Barnsley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
Cllr Margaret Bruff, Cabinet Spokesperson for People, BMBC

Item 6 (3:00pm)
Margaret Libreri, Service Director – Education, Early Start & Prevention, BMBC
Cllr Sarah Tattersall, Cabinet Support Member for People (Achieving Potential)

Item 7 (3:30)
Mel John-Ross, Service Director, Children’s Social Care & Safeguarding, BMBC
Cllr Margaret Bruff, Cabinet Spokesperson – People (safeguarding)



This page is intentionally left blank



MEETING: Overview and Scrutiny Committee
DATE: Tuesday, 27 November 2018
TIME: 2.00 pm
VENUE: Council Chamber, Barnsley Town Hall

1

MINUTES 

Present Councillors Ennis OBE (Chair), Bowler, G. Carr, 
Charlesworth, Clements, Franklin, Frost, Gollick, 
Daniel Griffin, Hand-Davis, Hayward, W. Johnson, 
Makinson, Mitchell, Phillips, Pickering, Pourali, Sheard, 
Tattersall, Williams and Wright together with co-opted 
member Ms K. Morritt

35 Apologies for Absence - Parent Governor Representatives 

No apologies for absence were received in accordance with Regulation 7(6) of the 
Parent Governor Representatives (England) Regulations 2001.

36 Declarations of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interest 

There were no declarations of pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest.

37 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 30th October were approved as a true and 
accurate record.

38 The Glassworks and Wider Town Centre Re-Development 

The following witnesses were welcomed to the meeting:

Matt Gladstone, Executive Director - Place
David Shepherd, Service Director - Economic Regeneration
Neil Copley, Service Director - Finance
Councillor Roy Miller, Cabinet Member – Place
Andrew Darlington, Senior Quantity Surveyor, NPS Barnsley
Steve Loach, Acting Head of Financial Services (Corporate) and Deputy S151 Officer

This item was introduced by the Executive Director (Place) who provided an update 
on the progress of the Glassworks and wider town centre re-development, with a 
particular focus on the governance arrangements in place to ensure that the overall 
programme is delivered on time and to budget.  The Town Centre Programme Board 
reports into Cabinet and the Glassworks Board manages the delivery of the 
Glassworks Programme and provides updates to both the Council’s Senior 
Management Team and to Cabinet. 

The report highlighted the current position in terms of decisions taken, cost and 
income projections and future risks/challenges the scheme may encounter and how 

Page 5

Item 3



2

these will be managed moving forward.  It was reported that the town centre project 
has been ongoing for a number of years now, with a significant amount of investment 
and engagement with both internal and external stakeholders both internal and 
external.  

In the ensuing discussion, and in response to detailed questioning, the following 
matters were highlighted:

The Glassworks is central to the scheme for the Borough and is aligned to the local 
plan.  The overarching plan is for a thriving town centre and Borough.  The Council’s 
Town Spirit vision will help to get the whole community behind the project.  The new 
Market is at the very heart of the Glass Works scheme as this makes good business 
sense. The new Market and Café has now opened, with footfall up by 11%.  Existing 
businesses are also part and parcel of the scheme as part of a thriving Town Centre.  
There is an expectation that the retail market will contract further over the next two or 
three years, which presents a number of challenges.  

The High Street, both locally and nationally, is in a state of flux at the moment and 
there is a need to future-proof the scheme and manage the risks involved.  There is 
also a wider economic uncertainty around Brexit.  The project represents a big 
investment and the Council has worked hard to ensure people have signed up for the 
long term, in some instances to a 20 year lease.  

There is currently a Premier Inn in the town centre and it is likely that the overnight 
‘offer’ will be further developed in the years to come, when investors start to see the 
business benefits.  As the town centre is relatively small and compact, it is essential 
that opportunities to promote it as a unique place are seized – such as the new town 
centre bridge and redevelopment of the former Npower site.  The Jumble Lane 
crossing has been problematic in the past, particularly on match days, but investment 
in the new bridge and Interchange (including longer platform for intercity trains) will 
alleviate this. 

It was reported that the town centre restaurant and leisure market is volatile and risky 
for investors but nonetheless some investment has been secured over the last 12 
months.  Larger centres such as Leeds and Meadowhall are also struggling and have 
had to put expansion plans on hold.  The report indicated that 59% of Barnsley 
residents don’t use the town centre as a retail destination.  It was felt that this is due 
to the lack of an adequate ‘offer’ at the moment, as Barnsley does not currently have 
a multiplex cinema, no key retail names or branded restaurants.   This is set to 
change. Significant private sector, Leeds City Region (LCR) and Sheffield City 
Region (SCR) investment is now being directed to Barnsley with a number of high 
profile names already announced (Next, Cineworld) and more in the pipeline.  

Alongside retail, the cultural and leisure offer is an important feature to attract 
visitors, with venues such as Experience Barnsley and the Cooper Gallery helping to 
increase footfall.  Additional investment has been made in promoting large scale 
town centre events such as Christmas lights, the Tour de Yorkshire and comedy 
festivals.   It is important to explore imaginative ways to increase and sustain footfall, 
with effective marketing and strong branding.  it is not just about retail. Good working 
relationships have been formed with other agencies such as ‘Visit Yorkshire’ and the 
‘National Trust’ and there are plans to bring more housing into the Town Centre.  
There will not be a profit on investment, but rather the return will be in terms of the 

Page 6



3

wider social and economic benefit. The ‘Dancing town event’ was very well received, 
well managed and positive.  Work is ongoing to explore how more businesses can be 
attracted to the Civic.  
   
 
Good transport links are crucial to the success of the project.  Work is ongoing with 
both Sheffield City Regions (SCR) and the Barnsley Bus Partnership (BBP) to ensure 
better and affordable access to transport through a number of investment schemes.  
It was acknowledged that some communities do not have transport into the town 
centre.  Unfortunately, since deregulation, bus companies will not run a service if it 
will not make a profit.  Coach tours continue to be successful, with people coming 
from as far afield as Lowestoft for a day trip to Barnsley.  It was felt that coach 
parking should be incentivised to further encourage this, perhaps with provision of a 
tour guide and facilities for coach drivers to use.  

Members can help by promoting the town centre and utilising some of the town 
centre ideas and innovation in their own areas to secure a vibrant future for the entire 
Borough.  It was felt that the visible student presence in the town centre was positive, 
with over 9500 students enrolled at Barnsley College. 

Members expressed concern that the image of the town centre may be tarnished due 
to such issues as homelessness, drug use, begging, safety concerns and anti-social 
behaviour.  It was explained that extra funding has been provided to the Police to 
manage the town centre and there has already been significant improvement with 
regard to street drinking, particularly around Peel Square, and student/anti-social 
behaviour has reduced compared to two years ago. There is a collective 
responsibility to tackle these issues and the Council has invested significantly in 
proactive enforcement.  Barnsley is working towards ‘Purple Flag’ accreditation, 
which recognises excellence in the management of town and city centres at night.  
Options for a   new CCTV system are being explored, including state of the art digital 
facial recognition in combination with a traffic management plan.  
   
It was felt that gateways into the town should be enhanced.  Plans are being 
developed to alleviate traffic concerns on Dodworth Road, Sheffield Road and the 
motorway slip road.  Some of the properties on the edge of the town are currently 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs).  Members felt that the opportunity for these 
to be converted into family homes to improve the overall ambience of this area 
should be fully explored. Walking and cycling into town is also being encouraged in 
conjunction with Public Health as part of ‘active travel’ plans.  New and improved 
signage will be included in the plans as part of the public realm but there are 
limitations as to what the Department of Transport and the Highways Agency will 
allow.  

It was felt that parking should be free but the cost of building car parking makes this 
difficult and there is evidence to suggest that some people are happy to pay charges 
for secure parking (for example, at the Alhambra).   

The importance of accessibility for disabled and those with health issues (given 
Barnsley’s heavy industry legacy) was highlighted.  Members were reassured that 
various service user groups had consulted and involved in designing all aspects of 
the town centre, including the Glassworks.     

Page 7



4

The ‘Library at the Lightbox’ project is being led by the Communities Directorate, but 
will be integrated into the overall town centre redevelopment and will open in around 
6 months’ time.  A number of activities are planned at the Library, including computer 
coding, adult skills and dance.  An events space will be available for use by 
community groups and a sensory room and café will also be on site along with 
extended opening hours.

Members agreed that the redevelopment was the largest project undertaken for 
many years by the Council and Officers should be commended for their hard work in 
securing a bright future for Barnsley over an extended timeframe.  Councillor 
Clements proposed that a dedicated Member briefing be arranged to look at the town 
centre redevelopment plans in more detail.  

RESOLVED that:

(i) The update be noted; 
(ii) Witnesses be thanked for their attendance and contribution
(iii) A members’ briefing be arranged to look at the redevelopment plans in more 

detail.  

Page 8



1

Report of the Executive Director Core Services
and the Executive Director People, 

to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) 
on 8th January 2019 

Neglect Strategy – Cover Report

1.0 Introduction

1.1 In July 2017, during Safeguarding Awareness Week, Barnsley Safeguarding Children’s 
Board (BSCB) soft-launched the multi-agency Neglect Strategy to tackle the cause and 
effects of neglect on children and young people in the Barnsley borough. This was 
followed by the formal launch in November 2017, following which a multi-agency 
training offer was rolled out.

1.2 The Strategy is called ‘Neglect Matters’ (Item 4b – attached) and has been developed 
by safeguarding professionals in partnership with the National Society for the 
Prevention of Cruelty to Children (NSPCC). This report provides an update on the 
progress made since the implementation of the strategy as well as the future plans in 
relation to this area of work. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 Neglect is a key issue in Barnsley but prior to the implementation of ‘Neglect Matters’, 
there has not been a dedicated strategy. A proactive approach has been taken to 
develop a strategy and associated training packages.

2.2 The Neglect Strategy is about keeping Barnsley’s children safe. It sets out what neglect 
is; the law; how neglect is defined; training and development for staff and professionals; 
what effective practice is and early intervention. Children and young people have a right 
to live in an environment where they are loved, feel valued and are cared for so that 
they can reach their potential and have aspirations. If children are not safe, they cannot 
be healthy, happy, achieve or reach their full potential. 

2.4 Neglect creates lasting damage and has long-term consequences for the young people 
and families involved. The strategy aims to encourage a whole family approach and to 
underline the importance of recognising the impact neglect can have on adolescents, 
from anti-social behaviour to poor educational achievements and longer-term mental 
health problems. The strategy puts in place a framework to continue to raise awareness 
and improve the safeguarding duty of all relevant agencies with regards to neglect and 
encourage a whole family approach to tackling root causes.

2.5 Everyone in the Barnsley workforce has a responsibility to identify children where there 
are concerns that a child may be suffering neglect.  It is important that we support our 
workforce to know what to look for and to understand what thriving and healthy child 
development looks like.

2.6 In November 2017, in Barnsley, 111 (48.5%) of the children on a Child Protection Plan 
(CPP), were on a CPP for Neglect.  A further 35 (15.3%) were on a CPP where the 
reason quoted was ‘Multiple’ but it is accepted that even for some of these children 
there will have been an element of neglect as part of the reason that saw them being 
placed on a CPP.

Page 9

Item 4a



2

3.0 What are we doing currently?

3.1 The Barnsley Safeguarding Children Board have supported a motion for:
 A (minimum of) five year programme to tackle neglect 
 The establishment of a multi-agency, partnership response to neglect, working with 

the NSPCC, South Yorkshire Police, Health, Education, Early Support and 
Children’s Social Care

 The forming of a Neglect Sub-Group which is leading the Barnsley Neglect Strategy 
and Action Plan. This group oversees the neglect strategy and has developed a 
neglect action plan which monitors the effectiveness of the strategy and the roll out 
of the ‘graded care profile’ across all key partners. 

3.2 In conjunction with the NSPCC, Barnsley has adopted the use of the Graded Care 
Profile version 2 (GCP2), which is a tool to support the assessment of the degree of 
neglect for a child or in a family. This tool empowers and enables families and 
professionals to identify areas of strength and areas of concern, highlighting what a 
family is doing well and areas where they may need support. It also identifies where 
neglect is impacting on a child or young person’s development potential and their 
emotional health and well-being.

3.3 20 colleagues from across the partnership have undertaken a ‘Train the Trainers’ 
course on using the GCP2. To date, this has resulted in over 400 professionals having 
been trained to use the GCP2 and to identify and understand the impact of neglect. The 
NSPCC promote the GCP2 as the key tool to assess neglect and monitor progress.  
The tool enables parents/carers to clearly see what is working well and what needs to 
change. A clear plan to achieve change is developed with the parents/carers which is 
then reviewed with them, helping them to understand the strengths and areas of 
development in their parenting. The assessment tool can provide reassurance that the 
child and family situation is improving or can be used in Court to evidence the significant 
harm the child is suffering. The updated GCP2 has been adapted to reflect some of the 
issues facing parents today to include issues such as child sexual exploitation and e-
safety.

3.4 A multi-agency neglect conference was held in July 2018 which saw the coming 
together of 120 professionals from across the partnership to discuss neglect and hear 
from key note speakers in relation to neglect, obesity, dental health and attachment in 
the neglected child. 

3.5 Along with the NSPCC, BMBC has led a communication campaign working with the 
local published newspaper to highlight neglect and what we are doing about it. 
Additionally, an online seminar, was hosted by ‘Social Work Matters’, which is a 
programme that aims to attract and support social workers, in addition to improving 
social work practice and delivery across the Yorkshire and Humber region. All 15 local 
authorities have come together in a unique way to drive up industry standards and 
champion the vital role of children’s social work. This online seminar was delivered by 
the Head of Children & Family Social Care at BMBC alongside the Campaigns Manager 
from the NSPCC and discussed the prevalence of neglect to raise the profile of the 
impact of neglect amongst professionals working with children, young people and 
families. 

3.6 Additional work has been done by BMBC with local family business ‘Rowlands 
Pharmacy’ who is promoting the neglect strategy in their chemist shops. 

Page 10



3

4.0 What difference is this making?

4.1 As a result of this work, Neglect is being talked about across agencies and there is a 
better understanding of the identification and impact of neglect. We have increased the 
numbers of children subject to a CPP because of neglect by 33% and we have 
increased the numbers of care proceedings where the primary issue is neglect. 

4.2 Effective use of the strategy and GCP2 assessment tool is supporting partners and 
practitioners across the spectrum of need to ensure that neglect is recognised and 
responded to consistently, at the right time and by the right people for the child and 
family.  

4.3 Simple and clear referral pathways have been established, with practice guidance that 
supports the recognition, assessment and management of neglect and contributes to 
evidence based, speedy and appropriate identification of services to meet the need of 
the child and family.  

4.4 Providing a tool which supports the objective assessment of degrees of neglect and 
also allows for improvements to be recognised acknowledged and tracked gives 
practitioners an evidence base to either escalate or de-escalate a case as appropriate 
and for timely interventions with the minimum of delay.

4.5 All children who are subject to CP Planning due to neglect are expected to have a 
GCP2 assessment. Once fully embedded we will be confident that this is enabling plans 
to be effectively progressed in timescales which meet the child’s needs. 

4.6 Professionals in early help, school settings and other areas such as housing are using 
the GCP2 to evidence the help families need and to measure progress made.

4.7 Use of GCP2 in child protection case conference and in the court arena is providing 
evidence in order to ensure plans made for a child are right and do not contribute to drift 
and delay. 

4.8 We are improving our timeliness within the court arena and finding that we are able to 
evidence neglect in a much clearer and succinct way in order to progress outcomes in a 
timely way. 

4.9 In our most recent feedback from the training 83% of participants found the training very 
good and 100% would recommend the training to other professionals.

5.0 Future Plans & Challenges

5.1 We will continue to promote and embed the use of the GCP2 Tool at every stage across 
the threshold of need.  We will continue to monitor its use and promote it as an aid to 
assess and review circumstances to measure change and improvement.  

5.2 Regular multi-agency audits of children living with neglect are helping to triangulate the 
effectiveness of the strategy and inform future training and development needs of the 
workforce in tackling one of our biggest, single challenges.

5.3 We will continue to work within the sub region to share good practice about neglect and 
what works.

Page 11



4

6.0 Implications for Local People

6.1 We want children in Barnsley to be protected from neglectful parenting and to help 
parents/carers understand what good parenting looks like by working with families in a 
way in which they can understand what needs to change. 

6.2 We want professionals to be able to identify neglect at the earliest opportunity in order 
that children and families receive the right help and support at the right time. 

6.3 Going forward we want to harness the quality of communities to help to identify neglect 
in order that no child is left in a situation of being neglected and this impacting upon 
their life chances. 

7.0     Invited Witnesses

7.1 The following witnesses have been invited to today’s meeting to answer questions from 
the committee on this area of work:

 Mel John-Ross, Service Director – Children’s Social Care & Safeguarding, BMBC
 Deborah Mercer, Head of Children & Family Social Care, BMBC
 Nina Sleight, Head of Early Start, Prevention & Sufficiency, BMBC
 Laura Hammerton, Family Centre Development Manager, BMBC
 Alicia Marcroft, Head of Public Health, BMBC
 Social Workers, BMBC
 Angela Fawcett, Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and Looked After 

Children, NHS Barnsley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
 Cllr Margaret Bruff, Cabinet Spokesperson for People, BMBC

8.0     Possible Areas for Investigation

8.1 Members may wish to ask questions around the following areas:

 What are the biggest challenges in relation to dealing with neglect?

 How helpful do parents/carers and practitioners find the Graded Care Profile 2 in 
helping to recognise neglect and identify practical changes which can be 
implemented?

 Are all partners equally involved and engaged in this work?

 As a result of this work, what achievements have had the biggest impact on 
improving outcomes for Barnsley children and young people? 

 What measures are in place to provide evidence that the Neglect Strategy is 
effective?

 What are the recent findings from multi-agency audits of children living with neglect 
and what changes have been implemented as a result?

 Have any common causes of neglect been identified and if so what preventative 
actions could be put in place?

 How does Barnsley compare with other local authorities in relation to neglect and 
can we learn from good practice in other areas?

Page 12



5

 How do you obtain the voice of the child and ensure it informs assessments and 
actions?

 What can Members do to help reduce neglect of children and young people in 
Barnsley?

9.0 Background Papers and Useful Links

 Item 4b – ‘Neglect Matters’ Strategy (attached)
 Information on the Graded Care Profile 2 (GCP2) by the NSPCC: 

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/childrens-services/graded-care-
profile/  

10.0 Glossary

BSCB Barnsley Safeguarding Children’s Board
BMBC Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group  
CP Child Protection
CPP Child Protection Plan
GCP2 Graded Care Profile 2
NSPCC National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children

11.0 Officer Contact

Anna Marshall, Scrutiny Officer, 21st December 2018

Page 13

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/childrens-services/graded-care-profile/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/childrens-services/graded-care-profile/


This page is intentionally left blank



Barnsley Local
Safeguarding 
Children Board:
Keeping children safe

‘Neglect Matters’ strategy ensuring 
Barnsley has effective arrangements for 
preventing and responding to neglect at 
the earliest stage

2017 – 2020

Page 15

annam
Typewritten Text
Item 4b



2 Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Contents:  
3 Introduction and summary

3 A definition of neglect

4 What the law says about neglect

5  Who is the strategy for?

7 What children and young people 

 tell us about living with neglect

10 Prevention and early intervention

2 Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Page 16



3Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Introduction
and summary 

About this strategy 
Barnsley aspires to be a place where children feel safe and are safe. This document outlines our 
commitment to prevent children and young people from experiencing neglect and to intervene at the 
earliest possible earliest opportunity to tackle its causes and reduce the impact on children when        
it happens.

We recognise that children and young people have a right to live in an environment where they 
are loved, feel valued and are cared for so that they can reach their potential and have aspiration. 
In Barnsley, too many children and young people have childhoods that are damaged by neglect, 
very often because parents are facing problems that they struggle to deal with and often cannot            
solve alone.

We believe in Barnsley that neglect is preventable and that we can intervene before neglect concerns 
become a problem. We can and should identify, assess and support children and families with 
early help when neglect concerns first emerge. We must not tolerate children and young people 
being exposed to ongoing chronic neglect when significant harm occurs as the consequences are           
often lifelong.

How does the Government define neglect?
Department for Education: Working together to safeguard children. London: 2015 
states:

In England, neglect is defined as the persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or 
psychological need, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child’s health or development.

• Neglect may occur during pregnancy as a result of maternal substance abuse. Once a child is born,  
 neglect may involve a parent or carer failing to: 
• provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion from home or abandonment) 
• protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger
• ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate care-givers)
• ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment. 
• It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child’s basic emotional needs.

Page 17



4 Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Emotional neglect 
The late Professor Olive Stevenson said “for children living with neglect, it is the soil they thrive in and 
the air they breathe”. In Barnsley we recognise that neglect can happen in any family and we want 
to dispel the myth that it only happens in low income or deprived families. We also want to promote 
understanding that neglect can often reflect the nature and quality of the relationship that the parent has 
with their child and that neglect exists to varying levels across all of our community.

What the law says about neglect 
Although the legislation around neglect is not specific, the Children and Young Person Act 1933 Section 
1 includes this within the offence of ‘Child Cruelty’. The 1933 Act itself was introduced to prevent a child 
or young person being exposed to moral or physical danger. It states: 

If a person who has attained the age of 16 years and has responsibility for a child or young person under 
that age wilfully assaults, ill-treats, neglects, abandons or exposes him/her or causes or procure him/
her to be assaulted, ill-treated neglected or abandoned or exposed, in a manner to cause unnecessary 
suffering or injury to health, that person is guilty of an offence. 

In 2012, during a campaign launched by Action for Children - it was recognised that the law needed 
to ‘catch-up’ and in particular to cover the harm caused by emotional neglect since the existing 
legislations focus was on ‘physical harm’. Subsequently, in the Serious Crime Bill announced during the 
2014 Queen’s Speech, it was clarified that the offence of cruelty covers serious emotional neglect and 
psychological harm. 

Neglect remains the most common form of child abuse across the UK and is usually the most common 
cause for being subject to a child protection plan. 

In Barnsley, the incidence of children subject to child protection plans because of neglect is 41% of 
all children who child protection plans however this figure is likely to be higher as we know children 
suffering from emotional harm or physical harm are very often also neglected. 

In addition to children who are subject to child protection plans, there are also children who are not yet 
in receipt of statutory child protection services but who are being offered  child in need support and early 
help due to concerns relating to neglect.

At the early help stage we are aware that we need to recognise the emerging signs of physical and 
emotional neglect much sooner. We are committed to reducing the numbers of children and families 
experiencing difficulties arising from neglect. We are also working towards preventing those ‘early 
difficulties’ from escalating and becoming ‘chronic and entrenched’, which leads to families requiring 
interventions by statutory services. 

In Barnsley we are determined to reverse the current trend, so we with partners have made a 
commitment to tackling neglect and have pledged to work together to reduce the incidents of neglect 
and to raise professional and public knowledge of neglect. 

Page 18



5Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Strategy Statement 1: 
Making an Impact:  

In Barnsley we are committed to reducing the impact and 
prevalence of neglect across the spectrum of need 
for all children and young people in our area. We will work 
together to raise awareness of neglect and reduce the 
prevalence of children suffering from neglect in Barnsley.

Who is this strategy for?  
This strategy is for: 
• Every child and young person living in and being cared for in Barnsley
• Parents, carers, family members 
• Members of the community 
• Child-minders, day-care providers, nurseries, primary and secondary schools, academies and further   
 education colleges 
• Midwives, community paediatrics and emergency departments 
• Health visitors, school nurses and GP’s 
• Child and family mental health services 
• Adult services, mental health services, substance misuse services 
• Staff working in youth and community settings 
• Police, fire and rescue services and ambulance service 
• Council employees 
• Early help providers 
• Family centres 
• Voluntary sector providers 

In Barnsley we aim to ensure that early recognition of neglect and improved responses by all agencies 
reduces the number of children requiring statutory intervention and that the life chances of children are 
improved”. We will work together to pool our skill, knowledge, resources and expertise to achieve deliver 
the best we can with children, young people and families. We will work with children, young people and 
families in a way that builds relationships and sets out clearly what the expectations are in order that the 
prevalence of neglect is reduced. 

Page 19



6 Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Strategy Statement 2: 
Training and Development:   

Barnsley will work with partners to implement and 
embed awareness of neglect across the whole of the 
workforce. We will support professionals to ensure neglect 
is responded to confidently, competently, swiftly and 
effectively.  We will ensure that our neglect training and 
development offer is responsive to learning from research 
and case audits.   

Everyone in the community in Barnsley has a responsibility to 
identify children when there are concerns that neglect might 
be occurring and communities can play an important role 
in preventing neglect alongside universal service providers, 
charitable organisations and the Local Authority. 

We need to support our communities to know what to look 
out for and to understand what thriving and healthy child 
development looks like.

We will ensure that professionals receive quality supervision, 
strong management oversight and support that enable them to 
do their job well.  We also need to be confident to challenge one 
another when we think we are not getting it right.

Page 20



7Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Strategy Statement 3: 
Community Awareness:   

We will work with communities to embed awareness of the 
signs and symptoms of neglect and harness the strong 
community spirt in Barnsley to make a difference.  We will 
listen to the voices of children, young people and families 
and learn from their experiences
 

What children and adults tell us about living with 
neglect?   
“We have covered neglect at Barnsley College today, we should be more open and honest at Junior 
School and should discuss it with the kids” Kirsty age 16 

“Neglect can be a lot of different things, emotional or physical which means the child’s needs are not 
being met” Gail – nurse 

“It can have a negative impact on a child’s physical or emotional health and can cause issues such as 
failure to thrive.  It seems to be on the increase, due to the times we are in.  We need more community 
services and to take a more proactive role.  Staff need more training in working with families and dealing 
with neglect”. Sam – Barnsley mum

“Not meeting the basic needs of a child and families need to feel confident to say when they are 
struggling and not fear their children will be removed.  Important teachers know what to look for.  It’s 
important to have someone like a health visitor to offer help and support”. Vicky – Barnsley mum 

“Neglect means being all alone, you need help and advice from people who have experience to help you.  
You need to speak to parents about what they are going to do to look after their children and then check 
they are doing it” Ruben age 11 years 

Children and young people who have lived with 
physical and emotional neglect in Barnsley have 
told us   
‘It is important for people who work with children and families to actually know what neglect is and to 
understand what to do to support them.  There needs to be workers in place for children to talk to if they 
are worried and not being cared for properly. It is not about punishment is about working with families” 
Chelsea age 14 years 

“Social workers need to act quicker when children are not being looked after properly and listen to the 
child and help them” Lorraine age 17 years 

“My mum didn’t look after me properly and I needed help, professionals need to know when to help” 
Charlie 15 years 

Living with neglect can be lonely, isolating. “Neglect can erode a child’s resilience, value 
and sense of worth.” Professor Olive Stevenson (2004)

Page 21



8 Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Not one service alone in Barnsley is responsible for working with vulnerable children where emotional 
and physical neglect is a concern. We therefore have to work together to meet the needs of children and 
young people and enable them to feel safer and to know they have a voice to influence what happens 
to them.  We will do this by ensuring our plans for children and young people are multi-agency and 
focussed on holistic needs, with clear goals and timely outcomes.  We will ensure our assessments and 
plans clearly record the voice of the child, young person.

Strategy Statement 4: 
Effective Practice:    

We will work to ensure that everyone who works with 
children, young people and families are aware of, and 
understands the signs, symptoms and impact of living 
with physical and emotional neglect. We will evaluate the 
effectiveness and impact of interventions, help and support 
to ensure we are working together to get it right for children.  
We will ensure that our assessments of need are formed 
by evidence based practice and that we understand the 
impact of family functioning, culture and diversity.

Page 22



9Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Strategy Statement 5: 
The Child’s Voice:     

We know that when children suffer neglect 
their brain development can be impacted upon 
and they can suffer long standing adverse 
consequences that can endure throughout 
childhood, adolescence and into adulthood. It 
is important that we use a range of evidence 
base tools to understand the child’s world that 
our assessments and plans take account of 
the child’s experiences and voice.

Page 23



10 Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Strategy Statement 6: 
Early Help and Prevention:      

We will work with partners and practitioners across the 
spectrum of need to ensure that neglect is recognised and 
responded to consistently, at the right time and by the right 
people for the child and family. To do this, we will make 
sure we have simple and clear pathways with practice 
guidance that supports the recognition, assessment and 
management of neglect and contributes to evidence based 
services to meet targeted need from universal / universal 
plus through to early help.

Barnsley assessment tool for neglect    
In Barnsley we are working with the NSPCC to implement the Graded Care Profile Tool 2. This is an 
evidenced based tool that has been tested and designed to help child care professionals when working 
with neglect. We believe that if professionals consistently incorporate the use of this tool into everyday 
practice with families to identify areas of strength and areas that need support and improvement, it will 
enable us to recognise early signs of neglect. We will be specific and clear about what needs to change, 
consistently measure the quality of the care given to the child over time and whether change is occurring. 
This will support the right families being stepped up into statutory services and for those already 
receiving this service to know whether neglect remains the key issue that creates risk for the child.

Prevention and early intervention   
Barnsley has an Early Help Strategy in place which is changing the way universal and early help 
workers approach their work. The multi-agency family centres provide a locality based environment for 
professionals to work together, know the community they are working in and provide a range of services 
from prevention to targeted interventions pre-birth to 19 years of age, 25 years if disabled. 

We recognise the importance of helping children and families at the right time and with the right level 
of service. The Barnsley threshold document and child concern model helps professionals to be clear 
about the level of need and risk.  Identifying neglect and assessing family difficulty and the impact upon 
children is often complicated in neglect cases because professionals can feel overwhelmed by the 
complexity of family issues and the focus can shift to parental problems away from the child. We can be 
over optimistic about lasting change when limited progress has been made. 

In Barnsley we want to achieve greater consistency in managing thresholds for neglect through the 
introduction of the Graded Care Pathway 2 Assessment Tool which is a specific tool that can enhance 
good quality assessments, benchmark strengths as well as concerns and help to target and sequence 
interventions. 

Working with partners we will strengthen our practice and effectiveness at helping and supporting 
children and families at an earlier stage.

Page 24



11Barnsley Neglect Strategy

Strategy Statement 7: 
Assessing Neglect:       

We will promote the use of the Graded Care 
Profile Tool 2 at every stage across the threshold 
of need. We will monitor its use and promote it 
as an aid to assess and review circumstances to 
measure change and improvement.

References    
1. NSPCC Inform May 2014 
2. UN Conventions on the Rights of the Child: Article 12 
3. NSPCC Graded Care Profile 2 for Neglect
4. R. Johnson and R. Cotmore (2015) National evaluation of the Graded Care Profile. London 2015 
5. O Stevenson (2nd Edition 2007) Neglected Children and Their Families

Page 25



Where to go for help
For further information and support services contact:

If you think the child is in immediate danger, call the police on 999 or 01142 202020.

If the child’s not in immediate danger, but you’re still concerned
about them, call our social care assessment service on (01226) 772423 (weekdays before 5pm). 
Saturday, Sunday or a Bank Holiday, or it’s after 5pm (4.30pm on a Friday), call our Emergency 
Duty Team on 0844 9841800. Or contact the NSPCC on 0808 800 5000 or Help@nspcc.org.uk. 
www.safeguardingchildrenbarnsley.com

Page 26



Document is Restricted

Page 27

Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 45

Item 7a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 51

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Neglect Strategy
	Item 4b - Neglect Strategy

	6 Barnsley SEND and Out of Borough Placements
	7 Children's Social Care Performance
	Item 7b - CSC Monthly Performance Report November FINAL 2018
	Item 7c - Understanding Children's Social Care Performance




